FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/23/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
5/23/2022 2:17 PM

No. 82897-5-I

100949-6

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

PAUL J. PASTOR, JR., PIERCE COUNTY SHERIFF,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

v.

REAL PROPERTY COMMONLY DESCRIBED AS 713 SW 353 RD PLACE, FEDERAL WAY, KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON, and all appurtenances and improvements thereon,

Defendant In Rem,

MEI XIA HUANG,

Interested Party/Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

A. INTRODUCTION

Civil forfeiture statutes—a controversial set of laws that allow law-enforcement agencies to seize and sell off personal and real property, often administratively and with no judicial oversight—burden the poor and underrepresented groups. See Jasmine Chigbrow, Comment, Police or Pirates? Reforming Washington's Civil Asset Forfeiture System, 96 Wash. L Rev. 1147, 1152–69 (2021). These statutes dispossess people of their assets, impoverishing them and removing what ability they might have to successfully reintegrate into society. Compounding this inequity, these statutes create financial incentives for county sheriffs and local police to over-enforce drug laws. This profit motive drives up the incarceration rate and diverts officer time away from the more critical mission of protecting the public from violent crime.

These statutes create special proceedings unknown to the common law—a bedrock principle that Division I of the Court of Appeals did not mention in its published opinion. In a special

statutory proceeding, the time-and-manner requirements for service are jurisdictional and demand strict compliance. Here, the Pierce County Sheriff failed to serve the statutory notice of seizure within 15 days as required by the drug forfeiture statute, RCW 69.50.505. Instead, the trial court erroneously permitted the Sheriff to serve notice by publication—a process that takes several weeks. Yet the Court of Appeals upheld the trial court's order forfeiting the house of petitioner Mei Xia Huang, who has never been charged with committing any crime. To reach that result, Division I adopted a jurisdictional analysis that muddies Washington law on the various forms of a superior court's jurisdiction. And it recast RCW 69.50.505(3)'s strict time-andmanner requirements as niceties, not foundational to the trial court's jurisdiction. This Court should grant review to reconcile the apparent conflict with this Court's cases and with the Court of Appeals' own decision in an earlier case.

Jurisdiction or not, the trial court's forfeiture order also violated the constitutional prohibition on excessive fines. This

case presents a compelling constitutional question about the Excessive Fines Clause's restrictions on a seizing agency seeking to reap civil profit from its enforcement of the criminal drug laws. And Huang's tenant, not her, was suspected of the crime. Still, the Sheriff hoped to seize her house—with an assessed value 50 times the maximum fine—and sell it to fund his department. The trial court did not bat an eye, and the Court of Appeals refused to even decide the issue. This Court should decide the question because the Sheriff overreached in conflict with the constitutional test for excessive fines and because money grabs in drug cases are important but evade review.

B. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The petitioner is Mei Xia Huang, the owner of the real property found forfeited in this case.

C. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division I's published opinion affirming the trial court's decision is reported at 506 P.3d 658. The slip opinion ("Op.") is reprinted in the attached appendix at 1–18. Division I denied

reconsideration in an order reproduced in the appendix at 19.

D. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the seizing agency's failure to serve a notice of seizure in strict compliance with the time-and-manner requirements in RCW 69.50.505(3) deprives the trial court of jurisdiction to order forfeiture of a claimant's real property.
- 2. Whether forfeiture of real property under RCW 69.50.505 in connection with illegal cannabis manufacturing violates the Excessive Fines Clause of the Eight Amendment when the activity has been generally decriminalized and the property's assessed value was 50 times greater than the maximum criminal fine.

E. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

(1) Overview of Civil Forfeiture and RCW 69.50.505

Civil forfeiture is widely unpopular. See Emily Ekins,

84% of Americans Oppose Civil Asset Forfeiture, Cato Institute

(Dec. 13, 2016), https://www.cato.org/blog/84-americansoppose-civil-asset-forfeiture. As part of the war on drugs, states

have employed drug forfeiture statutes to raise revenues for lawenforcement agencies' operating budgets. See generally John L. Worrall, Addicted to the Drug War: The Role of Civil Asset Forfeiture as a Budgetary Necessity in Contemporary Law Enforcement, 29 J. Crim. Just. 171 (2001). Commentators have criticized Washington's law for its monetary incentives and for agencies' power to "permanently take and keep property from innocent people while providing minimal legal protections." Chigbrow, supra, at 1164. In fact, a recent study found that Washington's civil forfeiture laws are among the worst in the country. See Lisa Knepper, et al., Inst. for Justice, Policing for Profit: The Abuse of Civil Asset Forfeiture (3d ed. 2020), https://ij.org/report/policing-for-profit-3/?state=WA (last visited May 21, 2022).

Washington's drug forfeiture statute authorizes a lawenforcement agency to seek forfeiture of personal and real property. RCW 69.50.505(1). Real property is subject to forfeiture if it is used for illegal drug manufacturing that rises to the level of a class C felony. RCW 69.50.505(1)(h). An exception applies if the criminal activity occurred "without the owner's knowledge or consent." RCW 69.50.505(1)(i). When property is forfeited and sold, the seizing agency keeps 90% of the net proceeds, and 10% goes to the state general fund. RCW 69.50.505(9)(a), (10). The statute of limitations for drug forfeiture is two years. RCW 4.16.100(2).

Seizure of real property occurs upon the superior court issuing "process." RCW 69.50.505(2). The "process" necessary to "seize[]" the property under the statute is not a summons, but rather a judicial writ such as a warrant *in rem*. *Tellevik v. Real Prop. Known as 31641 W. Rutherford St.*, 120 Wn.2d 68, 78, 838 P.2d 111, 845 P.2d 1325 (1992) (quoting RCW 69.50.505). Issuance of the writ commences the forfeiture proceeding. *See* RCW 69.50.505(3) ("[P]roceedings for forfeiture shall be deemed commenced by the seizure.").

And the issuance of the writ triggers the statutory service requirements:

The law enforcement agency under whose authority the seizure was made shall cause notice to be served within fifteen days following the seizure on the owner of the property seized and the person in charge thereof and any person having any known right or interest therein, including any community property interest, of the seizure and intended forfeiture of the seized property. Service of notice of seizure of real property shall be made according to the rules of civil procedure.

RCW 69.50.505(3) (emphasis added). The statute then gives a claimant to real property up to 90 days after service to make a claim. RCW 69.50.505(5). The claimant is entitled to a hearing within 90 days. *Tellevik*, 120 Wn.2d at 87.

(2) The Sheriff Obtained a Judgment for Forfeiture of Huang's House After Purporting to Serve Her with Notice by Publication After the Statutory 15-Day Notice Period Had Run

Huang owns a house in Federal Way at 713 SW 353rd Place, which she rented to De Qiang Yang. CP 307, 312, 635. On May 20, 2019, Sheriff's deputies searched the property when she was there and found a cannabis grow operation. CP 13, 308. Deputies detained her and found a purse with \$20,400 and her Washington State Identification card listing the house's address

as hers. CP 13, 173, 372. No one was ever charged with a crime, and Huang maintained she had not known about the activity. CP 635–36.

On June 3, 2019, the Sheriff's office mailed a notice of seizure of personal property, addressed to Huang at 713 SW 353rd Place. CP 127–31. Five days later, she claimed ownership of personal property taken from the house. CP 133–34.

The Sheriff then sought forfeiture of Huang's real property. On June 25, 2019, the Sheriff filed a summons and complaint in superior court. CP 1–6. On August 9, 2019, that court, on the Sheriff's *ex parte* motion, issued a "Warrant of Arrest in Rem Authorizing Seizure of Real Property." CP 22–23. On August 14, the Sheriff caused the writ, summons, complaint, lis pendens, and other documents to be posted at the house at 713 SW 353rd Place. CP 27. On August 16, 2019, Huang's attorney

¹ The forfeiture of Huang's personal property was adjudicated administratively rather than in a court of competent jurisdiction.

entered a notice of appearance. CP 24–25. On August 22, the Sheriff filed a declaration of due diligence. CP 28–30. But the Sheriff did not personally serve Huang with notice of seizure of the real property. CP 27–30. And the Sheriff did not move for leave to serve her by mail, despite serving by mail the earlier the notice of seizure of her personal property. CP 127–31. After 15 days had passed since the writ's issuance back on August 9, the Sheriff did not seek issuance of a new writ to re-commence the forfeiture proceeding.

Instead, on September 17, 2019, the Sheriff moved *ex parte* for service by publication under RCW 4.28.100(6), which the trial court granted. CP 43–44, 52–54. A week later, Huang filed an answer, which asserted an affirmative defense that she had not been served properly. CP 55–60.

The parties litigated, which ended with the trial court granting summary judgment for the Sheriff in December 2020. CP 654–62. The parties contended that the property was worth between \$488,000 and \$602,000. CP 638, 658. But the trial court

rejected Huang's defense that the fine was unconstitutionally excessive. CP 657. While Huang's appeal was pending, the two-year mark passed on May 20, 2021.

(3) The Court of Appeals Decided that the Failure to Service Notice Within 15 Days Created No Jurisdictional Problem, and It Declined to Hold Forfeiture of the House Was an Excessive Fine

The Court of Appeals affirmed. After surveying four forms of jurisdiction, Division I concluded that "[t]he trial court had subject matter jurisdiction to hear the civil forfeiture proceedings." Op. at 6. The Court also rejected Huang's argument that the Sheriff's failure to comply with RCW 69.50.505(3)'s service rule meant that the trial court "did not have jurisdiction to hear the civil forfeiture action." Op. at 10. The Court alternatively held that Huang had waived her arguments on personal jurisdiction. Op. at 13. Finally, the Court of Appeals declined to reach the Excessive Fines Clause issue, saying that Huang's briefing had not been detailed enough. Op. at 17.

F. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

(1) This Court Should Review Division I's Decision Holding that a Seizing Agency's Compliance with the Drug Forfeiture Statute Is Not Jurisdictional

This petition does not challenge whether the Sheriff's notice satisfied constitutional due process. "[B]eyond due process [requirements]," however, this Court has held that "statutory service requirements must be complied with in order for the court to finally adjudicate the dispute." Weiss v. Glemp, 127 Wn.2d 726, 734, 903 P.2d 455 (1995) (quotation omitted)). Even if Huang knew of the warrant in rem, "actual notice of the warrant in this case does not excuse the statutory requirements of service of process." Bruett v. Real Prop. Known as 18328 11th Ave. N.E., 93 Wn. App. 290, 302, 968 P.2d 913 (1998). Division I's opinion conflicts with these and other cases, and this important jurisdictional issue warrants review. See RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2), (4).

> (a) <u>The Court of Appeals' Interpretation</u> <u>Conflicts with this Court's Precedents on</u> Jurisdiction in Special Statutory Proceedings

Division I's opinion erred at the outset by failing to acknowledge that a drug forfeiture action is a special statutory proceeding. This state's superior courts lack "inherent power" to order civil forfeiture of property used in an illegal cannabis grow operation. *State v. Alaway*, 64 Wn. App. 796, 800, 828 P.2d 591, 593 (1992). "[S]ince colonial times, forfeiture in this country has existed only by virtue of statute." *Id.*; *see also*, *e.g.*, *Espinoza v. City of Everett*, 87 Wn. App. 857, 865, 943 P.2d 387 (1997) ("The power to order forfeiture derives solely from statute."). The only permissible conclusion is that a drug forfeiture action is a special statutory proceeding.

Division I's oversight on this point created a blind spot in its analysis. The Legislature has plenary power to enact procedural rules for special statutory proceedings. *Putman v. Wenatchee Valley Med. Ctr.*, *P.S.*, 166 Wn.2d 974, 982, 216 P.3d 374 (2009). And those special procedural rules can intersect in important ways with the trial court's jurisdiction. Jurisdiction, as this Court knows, comprises two elements—personal

jurisdiction and subject-matter jurisdiction. *Ronald Wastewater Dist. v. Olympic View Water & Sewer Dist.*, 196 Wn.2d 353, 371, 474 P.3d 547 (2020); *Buecking v. Buecking*, 179 Wn.2d 438, 447, 316 P.3d 999 (2013). Both these jurisdictional elements are implicated by RCW 69.50.505(3)'s service requirements. *See* Op. at 6, 9–10.

The failure to serve a statutory notice in compliance with a special statute deprives the trial court of jurisdiction to decide the parties' dispute. *Sowers v. Lewis*, 49 Wn.2d 891, 894, 307 P.2d 1064 (1957) (citation omitted). This jurisdictional rule applies also in civil actions other than special statutory proceedings. *Weiss*, 127 Wn.2d at 734. And the lack of personal jurisdiction means that the court cannot issue an order that "implicated their rights and interests." *Ronald*, 196 Wn.2d at 371. The order becomes "void." *Id.* Because Division I's opinion conflicts with these principles of personal jurisdiction, it requires review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Division I was also incorrect that a trial court has subject-

matter jurisdiction under RCW 69.50.505 despite a seizing agency's untimely service of a statutory notice. Op. at 6, 9–11. In proceedings "where statutes prescribe procedures for the resolution of a particular type of dispute," Washington courts require compliance with those statutory procedures "before they will exercise jurisdiction over the matter." James v. Cnty. of Kitsap, 154 Wn.2d 574, 588, 115 P.3d 286 (2005) (emphasis added). For example, in residential unlawful-detainer actions, "[s]trict compliance is required for time and manner requirements." Christensen v. Ellsworth, 162 Wn.2d 365, 372, 173 P.3d 228, 231 (2007) (citations omitted). "[A]ny noncompliance with the statutory method of process precludes the superior court from exercising subject matter jurisdiction over the unlawful detainer proceeding." *Id.* (citing *Hous. Auth. v.* Terry, 114 Wn.2d 558, 560, 789 P.2d 745 (1990)). This jurisdictional rule applies also to will contests, another type of special statutory proceeding. In re Estate of Jepsen, 184 Wn.2d 376, 381, 358 P.3d 403 (2015). And it applies to special statutory

appeals to superior court under the Land Use Petition Act ("LUPA"), ch. 36.70C RCW, *James v. Cnty. of Kitsap*, 154 Wn.2d 574, 587–88, 115 P.3d 286 (2005), and to petitions for judicial review of agency action, *City of Seattle v. Pub. Emp. Relations Comm'n*, 116 Wn.2d 923, 926, 809 P.2d 1377 (1991). Division I's published opinion conflicts with these cases. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Underscoring the need for this Court's review, this case is not the first time that Division I has refused to apply this Court's jurisdictional rules to drug forfeiture proceedings. *See City of Seattle v.* \$43,697.18 in United States Currency, 12 Wn. App. 2d 1047, 2020 WL 1157217, at *6 (2020) ("[The claimant] fails to establish the jurisdiction rule ... extends to a forfeiture proceeding."). Division I has thus repeatedly failed to recognize that this jurisdictional rule is, in this Court's words, "well established" as being generally applicable to special statutory proceedings. *James*, 154 Wn.2d at 588. Simply put, complying with a special statutory service rule is a "jurisdictional condition

precedent." Christensen, 162 Wn.2d at 372.

All this said, however, there is some confusion about whether a trial court's exercise of subject-matter jurisdiction despite insufficient statutory service is a legal error, or whether it instead rises to the level of a jurisdictional error that can be raised at any time. In *Buecking*, for example, this Court recognized the well-established rule that the Legislature can establish "statutory procedural limits" that become "prerequisites to the court's exercise of its jurisdiction." 179 Wn.2d at 449. A statutory procedural violation is a "legal error," Buecking concluded, not an error of enough jurisdictional magnitude that it can be raised for the first time on appeal (or, presumably, a CR 60 motion). Id. at 454. But Buecking concerned a marital dissolution—a subject matter expressly mentioned in article IV, section 6—whereas a drug forfeiture proceeding is within the constitutional provision for "special cases and proceedings." Art. IV, § 6. This case presents this Court with the chance to clarify this latter category of cases. But either way, there was error in the lack of timely notice, and that error meant that the trial court should not have exercised jurisdiction. No matter what path this Court takes, Huang is entitled to reversal. *See Jepsen*, 184 Wn.2d at 381 n.5 ("[T]here is no functional difference between a court lacking power to hear the issue based on a jurisdictional statute and a court lacking the opportunity to wield that power based on a litigation precondition: either way, it is unable to adjudicate the issue." (quotation and brackets omitted)).

The Sheriff argued below, however, that a defect in statutory service under RCW 69.50.505(3) is subject to harmless-error analysis. *See* Br. of Resp't at 23. In support of that argument, the Sheriff relied on Division I's unpublished decision in *City of Seattle v.* \$19,560.48 in *United States Currency*, 12 Wn. App. 2d 1045, 2020 WL 1156897, at *5 (2020). But the harmless-error analysis in \$19,560.48 was based on a claimed due-process violation, not a statutory violation with jurisdictional consequences. *See id.* Division I's decision there

conflicts with *Tellevik v. Real Prop. Known as 31641 W. Rutherford St.* ("*Tellevik II*"), 125 Wn.2d 364, 374, 884 P.2d 1319 (1994) where this Court held that dismissal was the proper remedy for the seizing agency not holding a hearing within 90 days—a remedy confirming that the timing requirements in RCW 69.50.505 matter. And it conflicts with cases like *Ronald*, 196 Wn.2d at 371 ("void"), and *Marley v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 125 Wn.2d 533, 541, 886 P.2d 189 (1994) ("void"), that spell out the consequence of a jurisdictional failure. Thus, \$19,560.48 is an unsound decision on the interplay between the statutory procedures in RCW 69.50.505(3) and the superior court's ability to exercise jurisdiction.

The Sheriff argued also that Huang's interpretation of RCW 69.50.505(3) would prevent seizing agencies from obtaining judgments of forfeiture solely because of technical deficiencies in a notice or because of evasion by the property owner. *See* Br. of Resp't at 23–24. Division I seemed to agree, arguing that Huang's interpretation would create a *de facto* 15-

day statute of limitations. Op. at 9. Those concerns are overstated. To see why, look no further than the rental housing industry. The sky has not fallen even though this Court's precedents require strict compliance with the time-and-manner requirements for notices in unlawful-detainer actions. *Christensen*, 162 Wn.2d at 372. And here, the two-year statute of limitations had not run. *See* RCW 4.16.100(2). Indeed, the Sheriff later asked the trial court to either continue the trial date or dismiss the case without prejudice. CP 76, 78. So the Sheriff tacitly knew that he still had time to try again to serve statutory notice within 15 days of issuance of a judicial writ. *Id*.

Division I seemed to read the service-by-publication statute, RCW 4.28.100–.110, as an implied exception to RCW 69.50.505(3)'s 15-day notice period. *See* Op. at 10–12. That reading conflicts with this Court's precedents on statutory interpretation. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1). While the drug forfeiture statute provides for a manner of service "according to the rules of civil procedure," RCW 69.50.505(3), that is a general

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