FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/11/2022 11:56 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 100949-6

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

PAUL J. PASTOR, JR., PIERCE COUNTY SHERIFF, Plaintiff/Respondent,

v.

REAL PROPERTY COMMONLY DESCRIBED AS 713 SW 353rd PLACE, FEDERAL WAY, KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON, and all appurtenances and improvements thereon,

Defendant in Rem, MEI XIA HUANG, Interested Party/Petitioner

PAUL J. PASTOR, JR., PIERCE COUNTY SHERIFF'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

MARY E. ROBNETT Prosecuting Attorney

Daniel R. Hamilton Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSBA # 14658 955 Tacoma Ave. S., Ste. 301 Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 798-7400

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

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Petitioner argues forfeiture of her illegal drug factory should be reviewed again because she dislikes the Legislature's civil forfeiture policy and claims it is "widely unpopular." Pet. 1-6, 24-26. However, her Petition does not brief legislative policy but instead asserts *procedural issues* of subject matter jurisdiction, waiver of service objections, and her failure to argue a multifactor legal test. Regardless, reliance on the supposed unpopularity of forfeiture law is a fallacious

argumentum ad populum, and is based on: 1) issues not present here (*e.g.* the real property forfeiture was neither "administrative" nor lacking "judicial oversight," did not "burden the poor" or "impoverish[] [Petitioner] and remov[e] what ability [she] might have to successfully reintegrate into society," *id.*); and 2) a poll that did not address civil forfeiture of illegal commercial drug factories – much less those using banned chemicals in residential neighborhoods. *Id.*

A. PETITIONER'S SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION DEFENSE FAILS TO MEET RAP 13.4(B) TESTS

The Court of Appeals found the appellate briefing reflected a "conflation of terminology" for general and personal jurisdiction with that for subject matter jurisdiction. 21 Wn.App.2d at 423; *compare* Pet. 13-14 *with* Amend. RB 20-25

_

⁷ Petitioner admits her "ability to pay" the fine was a defense "Huang did not raise" at any time. Pet. 34. Indeed, the record shows her ability to afford a luxury lifestyle and commute between homes in different states while at the same time retire the Defendant Property's \$317,493.75 mortgage *within a single year*. CP 308, 359-61, 366-71, 375-626.

& Cross App. Reply 6-11. Even now Petitioner cites no authority that notice requirements for all "special statutory actions" determines *subject matter* jurisdiction – much less for forfeiture actions. Likewise, she fails to address the rationale of authority *rejecting* such a reading of RCW 69.50.505. *Compare* Pet. 15 *with Bruett v. Real Prop. Known as 18328 11th Ave. N.E.*, 93 Wn.App. 290, 297, 968 P.2d 913 (1998)(prior decisions do "not stand for the proposition that having proceeded by way of RCW 69.50.505 to obtain forfeiture, the State must strictly adhere to the service of process requirements of that statute.")8; *Cty of Seattle v. \$43,697.18 in United States*

⁸ Petitioner argues *Bruett* "is irreconcilable with Division I's published opinion here, which did not cite *Bruett*." Pet. 24. She ignores *she also* "did not cite *Bruett*" to Division I, *see* AB, Reply iv, and that *Bruett*: 1) makes no mention of "subject matter jurisdiction;" 2) does not involve substitute service under the forfeiture statute but instead concerned "service *of the warrant*" and found the "warrant *was not served*" at all, 93 Wn.App. at 302; 3) refutes Petitioner's argument a seizing agency must strictly comply with a *particular type of service of process* and instead rejects "the proposition that … the State must strictly adhere to the *service of process* requirements of that statute;" and 4) "is … inapplicable" where the seizing

Currency, 12 Wn.App.2d 1047 (2020)(unpublished)(holding cases interpreting special statutory actions do not "extend[] to a forfeiture proceeding" because "analogy to the unlawful detainer statute is not compelling" since the forfeiture statute's language is "not the equivalent of the strict jurisdictional statutory" language of the "unlawful detainer statute and accompanying case law.").

Further, her own petition argues there is: 1) "tension in this Court's cases on whether strict compliance with statutory service requirements is necessary to trigger the superior court's jurisdiction in special statutory proceedings," and 2) "confusion" in the law about "whether a trial court's exercise of subject-matter jurisdiction despite insufficient statutory service is a legal error, or whether it instead rises to the level of a jurisdictional error that can be raised at any time." Pet. 16, 21

agency, like here, has "complied with the statute." Snohomish Reg'l Drug Task Force v. Real Prop. Known as 20803 Poplar Way, 150 Wn.App. 387, 400, 208 P.3d 1189 (2009)(emphasis added).

(emphasis added). If there were "tension in this Court's cases" regarding subject matter jurisdiction and "confusion" regarding its waiver by untimely litigation, she cannot claim under RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2) the decision below somehow is "in *conflict* with a decision of the Supreme Court" ⁹ or the "Court of Appeals." ¹⁰

⁹ This Court instead has been clear: "A court does not lack subject matter jurisdiction solely because it may lack authority to enter a given order," because there is "subject matter jurisdiction where the court has the authority to adjudicate *the type of controversy in the action*" *In re Stoudmire*, 141 Wn.2d 342, 353, 5 P.3d 1240 (2000)(citing *Marley v. Department of Labor & Indus.*, 125 Wn.2d 533, 539, 886 P.2d 189 (1994); *State v. Moen*, 129 Wn.2d 535, 545, 919 P.2d 69 (1996))(emphasis added). *See also Buecking v. Buecking*, 179 Wn.2d 438, 452, 316 P.3d 999 (2013)("To conclude a court has the subject matter jurisdiction to hear a case, but then can lose it ..., would conflict with the meaning of subject matter jurisdiction and our prior decisions" because a "court either has subject matter jurisdiction or it does not").

¹⁰ Court of Appeals decisions likewise hold under "statute and under the state constitution, ... forfeiture proceedings are a class of action the superior court" has the authority to hear. *See Cty of Walla Walla v. \$401,333.44*, 164 Wn.App. 236, 248-50, 262 P.3d 1239 (2011). *See also Watson v. State*, 198 Wn.App. 1048 at *2-4 (2017)(unpublished)(affirming subject matter jurisdiction present for civil forfeiture action because a "court holds subject matter jurisdiction when it has authority to adjudicate the type of controversy involved in the action," and Wash. Const. art. IV, § 6 provides the "superior court shall have

In any case, even assuming *arguendo* Petitioner's core claim that a "failure to serve a statutory notice in compliance with a special statute deprives the trial court of jurisdiction," Pet. 13 (emphasis added), the decision here expressly found "PCS complied with the notice provision of RCW 69.50.505(3)." 21 Wn.App.2d at 427 (emphasis added). Division I so held because the forfeiture statute on its face "explicitly contemplates either personal service or substitute service of the interested party." Id. (citing RCW 69.50.505(3) ("Service of notice of seizure of real property shall be made according to the rules of civil procedure," such as by "substituted service"))(emphasis added). Since "[s]ubstitute service encompasses service by publication pursuant to RCW

original jurisdiction ... in all other cases in which the demand or the value of the property in controversy amounts to three thousand dollars," so compliance with procedural prerequisites "has no bearing on the jurisdiction of the court in terms of the constitutional power of the court to hear a case.")(citing In re Marriage of McDermott, 175 Wn.App. 467, 480–81, 307 P.3d 717 (2013); Cost Management Services, Inc. v. City of Lakewood, 178 Wn.2d 635, 648, 310 P.3d 804 (2013)).

4.28.100," Division I held the forfeiture "statute contemplates service by weekly publication in a newspaper for six consecutive weeks" – and therefore "the legislature was not treating service to be completed within 15 days as jurisdictional, when the party to be served could not be found within the state and publication was required." Id. (citing CR(4)(d)(3); RCW 4.28.110) (emphasis added). Petitioner thus fails to satisfy RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2) and fails subsection (4)'s requirement that her seeking to manipulate subject matter jurisdiction and waiver somehow "involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court."

Ignoring the decision's reasoning, Petitioner then mischaracterizes this *express* statutory language as merely being "an *implied exception* to RCW 69.50.505(3)'s 15-day notice period," and improperly requests this Court make superfluous its *express* provisions authoring "[s]ervice ... according to the rules of civil procedure" such as by

"substituted service." *Compare* Pet. 19 (emphasis added) *with State v. Roggenkamp*, 153 Wn.2d 614, 624, 106 P.3d 196

(2005)("each word of a statute is to be accorded meaning"

because "drafters of legislation ... are presumed to have used no superfluous words"")(quoting *In re Recall of Pearsall–Stipek*,

141 Wn.2d 756, 767, 10 P.3d 1034 (2000); *Greenwood v. Dep't of Motor Vehicles*, 13 Wn.App. 624, 628, 536 P.2d 644 (1975)).

Petitioner's sole rationale for reading the "substitute service" provision out of the statute is her claim that giving meaning to its express language somehow makes the "15-day specific timing requirement" a "nullity." Pet. 20. In reality, unlike Petitioner, Division I recognizes *each word of the statute* has meaning by acknowledging both the 15-day period *and* that the Legislature did not intend it to apply "when the party to be served *could not be found within the state and publication was required.*" 21 Wn.App.2d at 427. This not only properly gives effect *both* to the statute's notice and "substitute service" provisions, but avoids creating a new limitations period for

forfeiture actions that incentivizes and rewards evasion of personal service and stalling litigation until limitation periods expire. Indeed, even a true statute of limitations yields when, as here, defendants evade service. RCW 4.16.180 (limitations period tolled when defendants "depart from and reside out of this state, or conceal himself or herself"); *Caouette v. Martinez*, 71 Wn.App. 69, 75, 856 P.2d 725 (1993)("if the statute of limitations is not tolled during the period of time a defendant is concealed because service could be had on him or her by publication, persons who intentionally conceal themselves to avoid service may be rewarded.")

As to the decision's separate holding that Petitioner waived any objection to service, she argues delaying litigation on that issue until appeal should not prevent a second appellate review because: 1) existence of an adequate independent ground sustaining the result somehow does not preclude her challenging a separate ground for that result; and 2) lack of personal service might not be waived if it were held essential to

subject matter jurisdiction. Pet. 26-27.

However, Petitioner cites no authority holding when one independent ground for a decision prevents recovery she nevertheless may appeal a second ground that would not change the result. *Id.* Indeed, an "issue is moot if it is not possible for this court to provide effective relief," and when "an appeal is moot, it should be dismissed." State v. Deskins, 180 Wn.2d 68, 80, 322 P.3d 780 (2014), as amended (June 5, 2014) (finding forfeiture challenge moot)(citing Klickitat Cnty. Citizens Against Imported Waste v. Klickitat Cnty., 122 Wn.2d 619, 631, 860 P.2d 390, 866 P.2d 1256 (1993). Further, it has been shown: 1) RCW 69.50.505(3)'s 15-day time limit *does not* affect subject matter jurisdiction so it was waived by Petitioner's failure to raise it in Superior Court; and regardless, 2) PCS's service *complied* with that statute.

B. FAILURE TO BRIEF AND ARGUE "EXCESSIVE FINE"

TEST PREVENTS RAP 13.4(b)(3) REVIEW

1. Failure to Argue Issue Below Prevents Review Now

Petitioner had the burden to demonstrate forfeiture of her illegal drug factory was "grossly disproportional to the gravity of [the] offense" under the Eighth Amendment. *United States v.* Bajakajian, 524 U.S. 321, 334 (1998); United States v. Jose, 499 F.3d 105, 108 (1st Cir. 2007)). However, her cursory appellate argument addressed only a single aspect of just one of the five required factors. AB 39-40. Because this did not meet her burden, Division I did not consider that defense. 21 Wn.App.2d at 433 (citing Prostov v. Dept. of Licensing, 186 Wn.App. 795, 823, 349 P.3d 874 (2015)("failure of an appellant to provide argument and citation of authority in support of an assignment of error precludes appellate consideration of an alleged error.")).

Petitioner fails to mention this holding or its cited legal support, confront the paucity of her earlier 2 page appellate "analysis" of the issue, or address that holding's fatal legal effect on any further appellate consideration. *Compare* Pet. 33-34 with AB 39-40 with Utter v. Bldg. Indus. Ass'n of

Washington, 182 Wn.2d 398, 443, 341 P.3d 953 (2015)(unpublished) ("too late" to make new argument after filing opening brief); *State v. Chen*, 178 Wn.2d 350, 358, 309 P.3d 410 (2013)(declining to address argument raised for the first time after opening brief).

2. Petitioner Still Fails to Show Forfeiture "Excessive" Conceding two of the Eighth Amendment's five factors show forfeiture was *not* "excessive" (*i.e.* her "violation was related to other illegal activities;" she had the "ability to pay"), Petitioner instead *now* claims "[f]actors one, three, and four show the fine was excessive." Pet. 31-32. However, the Petition argues only factors three and four (i.e. "other penalties that may be imposed for the violation;" "extent of the harm caused.") *Id*. Even as to those two factors, her argument does not withstand examination – especially considering that the Eighth Amendment's "excessive fine" factors reflect a "general permissiveness" toward such forfeiture. City of Seattle v. Long, 198 Wn.2d 136, 167, 493 P.3d 94 (2021)(quoting David

Pimentel, Forfeitures and the Eighth Amendment: A Practical Approach to the Excessive Fines Clause as a Check on Government Seizures, 11 Harv. L. & Pol'y Rev. 541, 544 (2017) (noting "in the [first] fifteen years since Bajakajian was decided, only four courts of appeals applying Bajakajian ... found a forfeiture to be excessive")).

To argue the "other penalties" factor, Petitioner cites *State v*. *Clark*, 124 Wn.2d 90, 875 P.2d 613 (1994), overruled by *State v*. *Catlett*, 133 Wn.2d 355, 945 P.2d 700 (1997), and summarily asserts here "the maximum criminal fine was \$10,000," claims the "home [was] worth between \$488,000 and \$602,000," and alleges "Federal courts have found forfeiture of a home excessive when similarly disproportionate." Pet. 31. However: 1) *Clark* ruled "we *do not find* the punishment in the form of the civil forfeitures of the Clarks' *home and motorhome* to be 'excessive'" because it was "rough remedial justice," *Clark*, 124 Wn.2d at 104; 2) here the property was not Petitioner's "home" but had been gutted into a dedicated illegal drug factory

using banned chemicals, CP 142-289, 368-72, 308, 376, 633; and 3) "courts look to *all* the penalties," *State v. Grocery Manufacturers Ass'n*, 198 Wn.2d 888, 904, 502 P.3d 806

(2022), and RCW 69.50.4013(2) and (5), are class C felonies punishable under RCW 9A.20.021 also by "confinement in a state correctional institution for five years."

Even assuming gutting the property into an illegal drug factory and using banned chemicals therein somehow had no effect on its supposed \$488,000 value at time of seizure (as Petitioner questionably claimed below, *see* AB 9, 37, 39; Cy Resp. 34), as in *Clark*, its forfeiture was at worst "rough remedial justice." This is so because her property was worth *less than either* the \$602,625 street value of its producing plants and the new crop found therein, CP 798, 868, *or* the illegal contraband annually grown/packaged/marketed from those plants. *See supra*. at 6 (\$126,000 *per crop* x 4 (or 12) *crops per year* = \$504,000 (or \$1,512,000)). Further, federal precedent upholds even *home* forfeitures based on similar facts. *See e.g.*

United States v. Riedl, 164 F.Supp. 2d 1196, 1202 (D. Haw. 2001), aff'd, 82 F.App'x 538 (9th Cir. 2003)(forfeiture of nine properties involved in crime did not constitute an excessive fine); United States v. Real Prop. Located in N. Hollywood, 2009 WL 3770639, at *4 (C.D. Cal. 2009)(upholding forfeiture of house used to store drugs and proceeds from its sale, as well as to conduct sales); United States v. Real Property Located at 24124 Lemay Street, West Hills, Cal., 857 F.Supp. 1373 (C.D. Cal. 1994)(forfeiture of residential property where illegal drugs grown, stored, and sold was not unconstitutionally excessive.)

As to her Petition raising for the first time the "extent of the harm caused," Huang makes only a cursory assertion that with "legalization of cannabis, the gravity of the offense is much less" and supposedly is "more about evading regulation than about creating supply of a drug." Pet. 31-32. However, in legalizing cannabis the Legislature intended to treat "untraceable marijuana as particularly likely to threaten health and safety of marijuana consumers …." *U4IK Gardens, LLP v.*

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